IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUSTIN RYAN MCMILLIAN,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC10-2168

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0648825
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500
nada.carey@flpd2.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt Phase

State's Case

Appellant and the victim, Danielle Stubbs, 26, had been dating since April 2008. Danielle's mother, Janice Stubbs, testified the couple was "always together" and that McMillian attended family functions, came over most holidays, and was well-behaved and respectful. Mrs. Stubbs never saw any signs of violence in the relationship and thought Danielle would tell her if she was being mistreated. 13:523-26.

On Thursday and Friday, January 8 & 9, 2009, Danielle moved from her apartment on Collins Road to a townhouse on Pineverde with her family's and McMillian's help. 13:496-97. Mrs. Stubbs testified that Justin told her that Friday that he and Danielle had a discussion about breaking up, that she didn't want him anymore, and he was going back to Georgia to see about his children. 13:501, 529. On Saturday, Mrs. Stubbs talked to Danielle on the phone, and Danielle was wondering why Justin was hanging out with her friends since she and Justin "were done." Mrs. Stubbs asked Danielle why she gave Justin her keys, and she said she gave him the keys to make copies and was upset he hadn't come right back. 13:530.

On Saturday night, Danielle went out with some co-workers from the naval hospital emergency room. Allen Morris testified he

met Danielle at Doug Pipenbright's apartment and then drove the three of them to a club at the beach in his '03 Monte Carlo.

14:681-85. Danielle was wearing black pants and a darker colored shirt. 14:697. During the evening, Morris and Danielle had sexual intercourse in his car. 14:687. They left the club around 2:45 a.m., pulling over a couple of times to let Danielle vomit because she was feeling sick. Morris took Doug home, then drove Danielle home. They stopped at McDonald's and arrived at her house around 3:30 a.m. Morris drove past the house, made a Uturn, and then stopped for a few minutes because Danielle wanted to "gather herself." She ate a little, they talked. When he pulled up in front of her house, he saw a champagne Cadillac backed into the driveway. Danielle got out and walked up the driveway. When she got near the front door, she waved, and Morris waved back and drove off. 14:687-97.

On Sunday morning, Mr. (Harold) and Mrs. Stubbs were unable to locate Danielle or her car. 13:503. Justin called that morning and asked where Danielle was, and she told him she didn't know, she thought she was with him. Later that evening, he called their home phone and said he didn't know where she was, that she had gone out with friends Saturday night, and he was in Georgia with his children. 13:504-06. Around 9 p.m., the Stubbs called the police and then went with their son, Hunter, to the Pineverde townhouse. 13:505-511. Finding the front door locked, Harold and

Hunter entered through the unlocked sliding glass door in back.

Harold Stubbs testified that Hunter ran inside, went upstairs, and started screaming. Harold let his wife in the front door, and they went upstairs and found Danielle on the floor beside her bed.

Janice Stubbs testified that her daughter was lying in a pool of blood "so thick like from her head to her toes she just drained of blood." 13:509. Janice said she laid on the floor and rubbed her daughter's face and her lower back. Harold testified that in entering through the sliding glass door, they would have walked through the vertical slats or pulled them to the side but denied inadvertently knocking any slats down as they came through the

²At this point during the testimony, the jury was removed, and the judge and lawyers discussed an apparent outburst from the victim's older brother that had occurred in the courtroom. The defense moved for a mistrial, which the trial judge took under advisement. The trial court also instructed the jurors to disregard any sort of outburst they may have observed. 13:509-18. Later that same morning, there was another outburst, characterized by the prosecutor as someone crying and being escorted out of the The defense renewed its motion for mistrial, and the trial judge polled the jurors individually as to what they had seen or heard, whether they would be affected by what they had seen or heard, whether they would remain impartial, and whether they could disregard the disturbance. One juror saw someone pushing someone and heard people upset. Some jurors saw something but didn't hear anything; some heard noise but couldn't make out what they heard, and one juror didn't see or hear anything. All stated they would not be affected and would remain impartial. 13:562-593. Later the same day, defense counsel brought to the court's attention placards and balloons outside the courtroom door, stating, "Welcome home, Duval," which apparently referred to the person who had been escorted out of the courtroom. Defense counsel did not want the jury polled. 14:655-62. The trial judge later denied the motion for mistrial without further argument. 15:892.

door.³ Harold further testified that the bottom lock and deadbolt on the front door were locked. 13:539-52.

Officer Pike arrived at the townhouse a few minutes later and found the Stubbs and their son outside. Pike did not recall the blinds being awry when she cleared the home. 13:558-60.

Detective Whittlesey was the crime scene investigator at the Pineverde townhouse, a two-bedroom loft home. 13:598. Whittlesey testified that there was a paper napkin on the living room couch downstairs and a sock and iron on the floor. 14:607. from the blinds that was on the floor in front of the stairs was lying on top of a pair of shorts, underwear, and a sock, indicating the clothing was deposited there first. 14:608-09. An ironing board was standing up against the wall. 14:612. A Smirnoff Green Apple bottle was on the counter between the downstairs bathroom and the living room. 14:675. A shirt and Jaguars ball cap were at the top of the stairs. 14:614. At the top of the stairs, just outside the bedroom door, was a .45 caliber live round. In the bedroom, the pillows and sheets were on the bed with blood stains on them. 14:615-17. The sheets had bullet holes in them. 14:625. A .45 caliber bullet was on the bed. 14:622. The victim was on the floor beside the bed in a pool of blood. 14:619. The victim was on top of a comforter that

³Mr. Stubbs was shown State's Exhibit 18, which showed three knocked-down slats, one by the stairs, one in the living room by the rug, and another one draped over the sofa.

had a bullet hole in it and was blood stained on the bottom side. 14:628-29, 641. There were no powder burns on the comforter or sheets and no stippling on the victim. 14:673-75. A .45 caliber spent casing was in the blood. 14:624. Another .45 caliber spent casing was at the right foot of the dresser/TV stand that was in front of the bed, close to the bathroom side. 14:618. Whittlesey testified that if a .45 pistol is held in a straight upright position, the rounds eject to the right and that a shell casing will roll if kicked. 14:671.

A McDonald's bag and Danielle's cell phone were on the night stand to the left of the bed. The receipt showed the purchase had been made at the McDonald's on Blanding on January 11 between 3:30 and 3:39 a.m. 4 14:621.

Two or three cigar butts were found outside the apartment. 14:631, 668.

Dr. Jesse Giles performed the autopsy. Danielle was 5'1" tall, 180 pounds, and was wearing a purple, spaghetti strap tank top and bra. 14:726,738. The cause of death was skull fractures and brain lacerations with hemorrhage due to a gunshot wound to the head. 14:723. She also received a gunshot wound to her right arm. The head wound was to the top of the head, at the side, right where the skull is curving. A piece of the bullet probably

⁴The last digit on the McDonald's receipt showing the time of purchase was illegible.

exited as it hit her, and the rest broke through the skull, went through the brain, and stopped under the skin at the left temple 14:731-32. There was no evidence of close-range fire or area. contact range, no gunpowder flack, soot, charring, or stippling. 14:733. The track went leftward, slightly downward and slightly backward across the top of the head. 14:734. Part of a bullet was recovered from inside her brain. 14:735. The bullet to the arm entered through the back right side of the right arm and came out on the inside right arm. The bullet did not hit any bone and would not have been fatal. 14:726-28. Inside the arm wound next to the bone were three tiny pieces of lead stuck to some pieces of yellow fuzzy material. 14:737. She lived for at most minutes after the shot to the head and probably would have been unconscious immediately. 14:747. Dr. Giles couldn't say which shot was first. She was alive for both. The arm wound would have hurt if she was awake when it happened. 14:748. The shots were probably simultaneous or around the same time. 14:750. She had a bruise on her left forehead and a bruise on the upper back, which could have happened from a fall from bed to floor. 14:753.

Kristin Schaad, a DNA analyst, testified that McMillian's semen, along with that of another contributor who couldn't be determined, was in the victim's vagina. The anal swab had a mixture of semen, which included McMillian and did not exclude Allen Morris. 16:1029-32. Semen from both Morris and McMillian

was on the victim's underwear. 16:1036, 1038. DNA was found inside and outside her acrylic fingernails. McMillian's DNA and that of other foreign donors who couldn't be determined was inside the nails. 16:1035-36. Schaad testified the DNA on the fingernails could be the result of passionate lovemaking. She thought the DNA came from blood or tissue, 16:1046, and came from a forceful rather than light scraping of the skin. 16:1050.

The day after Stubbs' was found, Monday, January 12, at 11:10 a.m., McMillian called the Duval County Sheriff's Office and spoke to a dispatcher. In that conversation, which was recorded, McMillian said his girlfriend had been found dead in her apartment and his father had advised him to call. He said he had been in Georgia since 3 a.m. on Sunday, and that he came straight to Georgia after he and his sister left the club. The dispatcher took an address and phone number and said someone would call him back. 14:766-67.

At 12:20 p.m., Detective Wolcott returned McMillian's call.

14:769. In that conversation, which also was recorded, Detective

Wolcott asked Justin if he knew anything that might help them, and

Justin said he was driving Danielle's car a few weeks before when

a tall, dark-skinned guy in a white Monte Carlo came up and asked

him if that was Danielle's car. 14:771-74. Justin said he last

saw Danielle at 6 p.m. on Saturday, when he returned her car keys,

which she had left in his jacket. When he spoke to her last,

around 9 p.m., she said she and some friends from work were going to a club. He had stayed with her at her old apartment and at the new place Thursday and Friday nights. He had told her if they weren't going to stay together, he was moving back to Georgia. She never gave him a key to her house. 14:775-80. He was at Sharky's club with his sister on Saturday night. They left around 1:30, and he took his sister to their parents' house. He talked to his sister and brother and left for Georgia around 2 a.m. 14:776, 784-85. Justin told Wolcott he was heading back to Jacksonville in a few minutes and agreed to meet Wolcott at the police station. 14:785-90.

When Justin failed to show up, Detective Wolcott called in the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office (JSO) Task Force to assist in apprehending McMillian, and on January 14, the Task Force located McMillian at his aunt's house on Strato Road in Jacksonville.

Five Task Force cars were around the corner when three males left the house in a brown Cadillac. Agent Scott Cargile, with the U.S. Marshal's Service, with Clay County Detective Michael Calhoun riding shotgun, followed the Cadillac in an unmarked 2008 Ford Explorer. Behind Cargile was JSO K-9 Officer Kenneth Bowen, in a marked JSO vehicle and wearing a police vest marked with K-9.

Behind Bowen were JSO Deputy Stafford in a marked vehicle, and JSO

Detective Pinkney in an unmarked Nissan.⁵ After traveling 1/8 of a mile, Agent Cargile radioed Deputy Bowen and directed him to pass his car and conduct a felony traffic stop on the Cadillac.

15:800, 826. The pretext for the stop was a 2004 misdemeanor warrant from Georgia.⁶ 15:822.

Deputy Bowen testified that he switched places with the Marshal's car at Firestone and Melvin and activated his blue lights after turning onto Firestone. He tapped on the horn a couple of times but thought the driver didn't see him, as he got no reaction from the occupants. The passengers stared ahead the whole time, never checked their mirrors, and never sped up or slowed down. After traveling 1/10 of a mile, the suspect vehicle turned right onto Fireside Drive. 15:826. After completing the turn, the car came to quick stop. As Bowen started to exit his vehicle, the doors of the Cadillac opened, and the two passengers exited. Bowen had his dog on a leash, and as he exited, the dog came across his lap to get out before him. Bowen saw the two passengers go to the ground and as he stood up, he heard gunfire and saw McMillian shooting at him from outside the driver's door. Bowen released the dog with a command to attack McMillian and

⁵Although no testimony was presented regarding the occupant of the fifth vehicle, Stafford testified the fifth vehicle was unmarked.

⁶Officers Bowen and Calhoun testified they were unaware the warrant had been dismissed because the statute of limitations had expired. 15:822, 914.

retreated to the back of his car. The dog came to the back of the car with Bowen, however, and attacked Deputy Calhoun, who along with Agent Cargile, was returning fire. Bowen ordered the dog to release Calhoun, then fired at McMillian, who was running down the street. McMillian ran to the left between two houses, where he collapsed and was taken into custody. None of the officers was hit but Bowen's car was hit in the driver's side headlight and the driver's side door through the JSO shield. 15:805-815, 818.

Bowen testified the dog did not run toward McMillian when it got out of the car and that McMillian was shooting at him before he released the dog. Bowen is 6'3" and the dog is about 20-21 inches off the ground, at the shoulder. 15:833-834.

Agent Cargile testified he was wearing a vest identifying him as U.S. Marshal. The Explorer had police lights inside the car that were invisible unless activated. 15:851-52. Cargile asked Bowen to make the stop because Bowen was in a marked car. 15:853. After Bowen came around, both cars activated their lights, heading south down Firestone. McMillian slowed down and turned onto Fireside. Cargile came around to Bowen's left and saw the passenger and driver side doors of McMillian's vehicle open. One passenger came out and got on the ground. McMillian got out and started shooting in Bowen's direction. Cargile parked, got out, and started shooting at McMillian over the door and hood of his car. Deputy Calhoun had also gotten out but Cargile was focused

on McMillian and didn't see what either Bowen or Calhoun were doing. 15:871. Cargile didn't see the dog or see Calhoun get thrown down by the dog. Cargile shot 10-12 rounds with a Glok .40-caliber. McMillian started running, Calhoun shot his M4 rifle, and McMillian ran between two houses. McMillian was pointing the gun back over his shoulder initially but Cargile didn't see the gun when McMillian ran between the houses. 15:856-57. They found McMillian lying down, with his arms beneath him. They cuffed him, saw he had been shot, and called Fire and Rescue. 15:858-860.

Deputy Calhoun was wearing jeans, a T-shirt, and a vest with U.S. Marshal on it. 15:898. Calhoun testified that Cargile's car stopped directly behind Bowen's car, and as Calhoun exited, he saw two black males exit the passenger side of the suspect vehicle and one black male exit the driver's side. The passenger side males ran about 25 feet and went down to the ground as shots started being fired. Calhoun did not command them to get down. McMillian began firing toward Bowen's and Cargile's vehicles. Calhoun exited and took a position on the passenger side of Bowen's vehicle. Bowen and his dog went to the back of their vehicle, and the dog knocked Calhoun down behind Bowen's car. The dog was released, as shots were being fired by both sides. Calhoun stood up and saw McMillian firing towards Cargile and shot him once with his M4 rifle, striking him on the left side. 15:900-05. Calhoun

saw the dog get out before Bowen but he was more focused on where the shots were coming from. 15:922.

Deputy Stafford testified that when Bowen activated his lights, the Cadillac didn't accelerate or stop. As the Cadillac and Bowen turned onto Fireside, the passengers' doors opened and the car rolled to a stop. As Stafford exited his car, he heard gunshots from the left side of the Cadillac, and the passengers jumped out. Stafford ordered the passengers to the ground, as did others behind him, and they complied. Stafford never fired a weapon. His view was obstructed until he saw the suspect flee between two houses. 15:940-44.

Deputy Pinkney, in the fourth vehicle back, heard gunshots but never fired his weapon. He moved Cargile's vehicle to allow rescue access to McMillian, and when he got out of the vehicle, he found McMillian's gun, a .45 caliber Desert Eagle semiautomatic, lying in the street 30 feet in front of the suspect's vehicle. 15:931-34, 951, 16:1075.

When McMillian's car was searched on January 16, police found a box of Winchester .45 automatic bullets, eleven rounds, inside the glove box, a holster on the back seat, and a large quantity of men's clothing in the trunk. 14:650-52.

On January 29, 2011, Detectives Wolcott and McClain interviewed McMillian at Shands Hospital. The interview was audio recorded without McMillian's knowledge. 16:1128-30. The

detectives testified they had gone to the hospital several times before, including one occasion when they were allowed to obtain his fingerprints, but McMillian was unconscious. 16:1199. When they called on January 29, 2011, they learned he had been moved from ICU. 17:1205. The nurse told them he was on Motrin. They didn't know he was on an I.V. until they got in the room and didn't know what he had been taking for the prior two weeks. 17:1205-07, 1211.

Wolcott testified McMillian was lying back in bed, didn't appear to be under the influence of drugs, and didn't seem to have any problems understanding him. McMillian was read his rights and said he understood them. He signed the rights form but his signature was not legible, so Wolcott wrote his name. The nurse came in several times to check on his wounds during the interview. 16:1130-36.

The audio recording, State's Exhibit 6, which was played for the jury, is summarized as follows. McMillian initially told the detectives that he last saw Danielle when he came back from the race track in Georgia on Friday around 7:00 p.m. He returned her car keys, which were in his pocket. She said she was going to do some running around, and they parted around 8:30 p.m. His cousin told him what happened the next morning. When the detectives told

This summary is taken from the court reporter's transcript of the recording. 16:1139-95. There also is a written transcript, State's Exhibit 4. 3:543-581.

McMillian that he previously had told them Danielle was going out with friends on Saturday night, McMillian said he wasn't sure about the day, then said he went to the track on Saturday. That night, he and his sister went to a club until about 1:30, he took his sister back to his parents' house, and he left for Georgia around 2 a.m. 16:1144-55. He never had a discussion with Danielle about breaking up. The last time they talked, she said she wanted to be married before she turned 28. They were intimate at her house that night. She was wearing a black shirt and jeans. 16:1155-58. Asked what he was thinking when the police cars were behind him, he said, "Honestly I didn't see no marked car." 16:1158. He thought the truck behind him was the same truck that had tried to pull something on him on the north side. When told the car behind him was a canine officer in a marked car, he said, no, it was a black Explorer. He wouldn't shoot at police because "I ain't ready to die right now." He got out and started shooting at the truck. 16:1160-61.

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