IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUSTIN RYAN MCMILLIAN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-2168

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

The Initial Brief (IB 52-53) also discusses <u>Hoefert v. State</u>, 617 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1993), but it is distinguishable because of the sheer lack of evidence there. In <u>Hoefert</u>, unlike here, "the State was unable to prove the manner in which the homicide was committed and the nature and manner of any wounds inflicted." Here, in contrast with <u>Hoefert</u>, as detailed supra, the crime scene evidence of the two shootings and perpetrator and victim movement in between the shots, evidence of a struggle, the motive due to the victim dumping McMillian, McMillian waiting outside the victim's townhouse at 3:30am, seeing her arrive, then calling her about a half hour later

from a nearly Gate store, and McMillian's cold attempted cover-up demonstrate premeditation.

In sum, none of the cases McMillian discusses is on point. None of them include the totality of incriminating evidence here, as bulleted supra and as detailed further in the "STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS supra. Here, the evidence was more than sufficient for premeditation, and the trial court correctly denied the defense's motions for judgment of acquittal.

# ISSUE II (WEIGHT OF FELONY PROBATION AGGRAVATOR): WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS UNREASONABLE IN GIVING GREAT WEIGHT TO THE FELONY PROBATION AGGRAVATOR. (IB 60-66, RESTATED)

ISSUE II contends that the trial court unreasonably afforded great weight to the felony-probation aggravator because an underlying circumstance of the felony was a withhold of adjudication and because the trial court also found the mitigator of no significant prior criminal history. However, defense counsel failed to present these arguments to the trial court, and, in any event, the trial court was reasonable in giving great weight to a felony probation based upon McMillian's 120 MPH flight from the police and endangering children playing in a residential neighborhood. ISSUE II should be rejected, and the trial court should be affirmed.

### A. Failure to Preserve in the Trial Court.

The defense failed to present the trial court with ISSUE II's arguments, thereby failing to afford the trial court an opportunity to correct ISSUE II's argued error and failing to preserve it for

appellate review now. <u>See Buzia v. State</u>, 926 So.2d 1203, 1208 (Fla. 2006)(claim that "contemporaneous guilty verdict for the attempted murder of Mrs. Kersch was not a "conviction" for prior violent felony aggravator, unpreserved). In this case, at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing the defense did not discuss the ISSUE II arguments. (<u>See X 1952-72</u>) The defense's sentencing memorandum argued that the trial court could not lawfully find felony probation at all because McMillian had not been adjudicated guilty, but it did not pose the arguments presented here. (<u>See VIII 1424-25</u>) On October 1, 2010, the trial judge filed his Sentencing Order. (VIII 1456-83) On October 22, 2010, McMillian's counsel filed a Notice of Appeal (VIII 1486), and for the interim period (between the Sentencing order and the Notice of Appeal, the State has found no pleading or hearing in which the defense presented to the trial judge the arguments in ISSUE II. Therefore, ISSUE II is not preserved below.

# B. <u>Standard of Review and Reasonable & Competent Basis of Trial</u> Court's Order.

If the merits of ISSUE II are reached, the State submits that the decision of, and reasoning in, the trial court's order are reasonable therefore meriting affirmance.

The standard of appellate review is whether appellant can demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion and whether there was competent substantial evidence supporting the decision. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Buzia v. State</u>, 926 So.2d 1203, 1216 (Fla. 2006). Abuse of discretion is measured by reasonableness: "'[D]iscretion is abused

only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court.'" <u>Buzia; see also</u> <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 923, 935 (Fla. 2000)("competent substantial evidence supports the existence of the CCP aggravator, but also that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by affording it 'great weight'").

Therefore, the question becomes whether McMillian has demonstrated on appeal that the trial court was unreasonable in affording great weight to the felony probation aggravator and whether there was competent and substantial evidence supporting the finding. Here, McMillian has failed to meet his appellate burdens.

The following was the trial court's reasoning in finding and weighing this aggravator:

1. The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control or on felony probation. §921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat. (2009).

On June 9, 2005, the Defendant was arrested in Glennville, Tattnall County, Georgia for felony fleeing and eluding. Officer Marcus Williams testified during the penalty phase that on that date, he observed the Defendant driving, and because he was aware that the Defendant's license was suspended, he attempted to stop him. The Defendant failed to stop, and initiated a high speed chase, at speeds of up to 120 miles per hour, through a residential area. Officer Williams testified that there were children playing in the area and that the Defendant nearly struck one child. During the guilt phase, the Defendant admitted fleeing from the police during this incident, and testified that he did so because he was in possession of narcotics and a firearm.

The Defendant was on felony probation at the time he committed the Capital Murder. The State introduced a certified copy of the Judgment and Sentence, indicating that the Defendant pled guilty to felony fleeing and eluding on January 3, 2008, and was placed on probation for a period of five years. The Defendant's probation officer, Andrew Durrence, explained that the Defendant received first offender treatment, whereby he entered a plea of guilty, but he was not adjudicated guilty and the final disposition of guilt was withheld upon his successful completion of his probation. Mr. Durrence also testified that as conditions of his probation, the Defendant was prohibited from committing any new violation of the law and from possessing any type of firearm. This Court finds that for the purpose of determining what is considered a conviction as to aggravators for capital sentencing, a plea of guilty serves as a conviction and an adjudication of guilt is not required. McCrae v. State, 395 So. 2d 1145, 1153-54 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1041, 102 S.Ct. 583, 70 L.Ed.2d. 486 (1981). The testimony that the Defendant entered a plea of guilty to the felony fleeing and eluding and the Judgment and Sentence placing him on probation for the offense proves beyond all reasonable doubt the existence of this aggravating circumstance. This aggravating circumstance has been given great weight in determining the appropriate sentence to be imposed in this case.

(VIII 1464-65, bold and underling in original)

The trial court's finding is based upon competent substantial evidence, which was reasonable to afford great weight. In the penalty phase, a Georgia probation officer testified that, in 2008, McMillian was placed on felony probation for five years for a fleeing incident and remained on probation through the time the probation officer testified. (<u>See</u> XXII 2056-68) Conditions of probation were that McMillian not violate the law and not possess a firearm. (<u>See</u> XXII 2057-58) The probation sentence was introduced into evidence. (XXII 2059) A Georgia police officer testified to the details of the 2005 offense underlying the felony probation. In that incident, McMillian ran from the police in a high speed chase at speeds up to over 120 MPH through the residential neighborhood where a lot of children were playing and where McMillian narrowly missed hitting a child. (<u>See</u> XXII 2045-55) In the guilt phase, McMillian, in fact, did admit

fleeing from the police during this incident because he was in possession of narcotics and a firearm. (See XVIII 1509-1510)

Moreover, after McMillian succeeded in eluding Officer Williams (XXII 2050-51), who had recognized McMillian driving the car and knew he had a suspended driver's license (XXII 2046-47, 2051), McMillian came to the police station and lied to the police by stating that his cousin was driving his vehicle at the time (XXII 2051), then when the officer told McMillian that he would be charged with filing a false police report, McMillian confessed to the eluding and bragged, "I had you, man. I had you. I left you about a half mile back." (XXII 2052)

In essence, McMillian incorrectly contends that, regardless of how weighty and aggravated other facts of this aggravator were, the withhold of adjudication per se precludes "great weight." Here, McMillian incorrectly overlooks --

- the high speed chase, up to and over 120 MPH endangering a lot of children in a residential area;
- McMillian narrowly missing a child;
- the condition of probation prohibiting possessing firearms that McMillian violated during his shooting Danielle Stubbs twice and during his shootout with police; indeed,
- McMillian said that his possession of a firearm, as well as narcotics, is what motivated him to run from the Georgia police; and,
- McMillian lying to the police about his cousin driving the car during the chase and then bragging about eluding the officer when it was clear that the officer saw him driving.

These facts provide a reasonable basis for the trial court affording this aggravator great weight and merit affirming the trial court.

Reviewing the trial court's weight of this aggravator, it is also important to consider its status as independent from even other parts of Section 921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat.:

(5)(a) The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control **or on felony probation**.

Thus, Merck v. State, 763 So.2d 295, 299 (Fla. 2000), explained that --

the Legislature amended section 921.141(5)(a) to add 'or on probation,' ch. 96-290, § 5, Laws of Fla., and further revised subsection (5)(a) again to specify 'felony probation' and previous felony conviction. Ch. [9]6-302, § 1, Laws of Fla. Pursuant to these amendments, probationary status did not become a statutory aggravator until May 30, 1996.

<u>Merck</u> held that, there, the retroactive application of the distinctive felony probation aggravator violated ex post facto. <u>Accord Lukehart v.</u> <u>State</u>, 776 So.2d 906, 925 (Fla. 2000)("an entirely new aggravator to be considered in determining whether to impose a death sentence"). Here, this distinctive aggravator was properly found and applied. There is no per se prohibition of affording great weight due to withholding adjudication of guilt in the statute, and, under the facts of this case, this weight was reasonable.

As McMillian mentions (IB 62), <u>Blake v. State</u>, 972 So.2d 839, 847 (Fla. 2007), explicitly affirmed the trial court's weight of this aggravator. There, although the trial court gave the aggravator "some weight," the facts involved in the offense for which the defendant was on probation did not rise to the level of aggravation here, where McMillian's actions in the underlying felony <u>endangered several</u> children, including narrowly missing one, and was motivated to hide

his firearm and drugs, and in this murder he perpetrated it with a firearm and shot at police with a firearm when they tried to apprehend him for this murder. As in his actions fleeing from responsibility in Georgia, here McMillian <u>fled to Georgia after he</u> murdered Danielle, then attempted to flee from the police when they apprehended him. Facts underlying the felony probation include McMillian <u>lying to the Georgia police</u>, as <u>he lied to the police (and others) here multiple times</u>. In Georgia, McMillian lied about driving until confronted, and here, McMillian lied about being at the murder scene until he was confronted with the firearms identification. Here, McMillian even lied to Dr. Krop. In <u>Blake</u>, the trial court reasonably weighed the aggravator "some"; here, the trial court reasonably weighed it "great."

Indeed, McMillian's discussion (IB 62-63) essentially concedes that the weight an aggravator can factor-in how the facts of a prior crime relate to the facts of the current case. Here, in contrast to cases on which McMillian attempts to rely, the facts of the felony underlying the felony probation are aggravated beyond the mere label of felony probation, but rather include numerous aspects that overlap the facts in this murder case.

Moreover, the felony probation started in January 2008 (XXII 2059), only about a year before this murder, and McMillian committed the prior felony underlying the felony probation in June 2005 (XXII

2047), less than four years prior to committing this January 2009 murder.

Accordingly, this Court has upheld proportionality of the death sentence where the trial court gave felony probation great weight. <u>See Simpson v. State</u>, 3 So.3d 1135, 1149 (Fla. 2009)(felony probation aggravator, afforded "great weight"); <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 937 So.2d 590, 601, 604 (Fla. 2006)("murder was committed while Taylor was on felony probation," "great weight"); <u>see also England v. State</u>, 940 So.2d 389, 408 (Fla. 2006)(trial judge's factors included "could not ignore ... that the murder was committed while England was still on probation for a former felony").

McMillian also argues (IB 64-66) that the trial court's finding and giving little weight to the mitigator of no-significant-priorcriminal-history conflicts with the great weight it assigned to felony probation. For the reasons that the trial court detailed in its sentencing order (VIII 1467-68), awarding this mitigator any weight was, if anything, a gratuity: the Georgia eluding charge and facts; numerous arrests for driving on a suspended license; school discipline for fighting in school; and a prior probation for fighting. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hayward v. State</u>, 24 So.3d 17, 46 (Fla. 2009)("We 'will not disturb the sentencing judge's determination as to "the relative weight to give to each established mitigator" where that ruling is "supported by competent substantial evidence in the record"'").

Accordingly, <u>Everett v. State</u>, 893 So.2d 1278, 1280-81, 1287-88 (Fla. 2004), analyzed proportionality, in part, using the trial court findings of "(3) lack of significant history of prior criminal activity (little weight)" and "(1) appellant was a convicted felon under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder." While <u>Everett</u> did not discuss any interface between the aggravator and the mitigator, their coexistence was not troublesome.

Here, the trial court expressly factored into its evaluation of no-significant-prior-criminal-history mitigator that McMillian was not adjudicated guilty of a felony including the eluding charge:

Accordingly, the evidence of the Defendant's prior criminal history, <u>while not of the nature of violent felony convictions</u>, substantially reduces the weight of this mitigating circumstance. (VIII 1468) For a discussion of factors that can be considered in weighing this mitigator, see, for example, <u>Davis v. State</u>, 2 So.3d 952, 964-65 (Fla. 2008)("State may rebut the no significant history of prior criminal activity statutory mitigating factor with evidence of 'criminal activity,' not solely convictions").

<u>Sexton v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 923, 929, 934 (Fla. 2000), held that the trial court was within its discretion to give great weight to CCP while also giving great weight to "extreme mental or emotional disturbance." As here, there were circumstances that supported the relative weights.

In essence, ISSUE II attempts to second guess the trial court's evaluation of the significance of the withholding adjudication

concerning the felony probation in terms of its great-weight of the felony probation and in terms of its little weight for nosignificant-prior-criminal-history, but appellate second-guessing is not the standard of appellate review. Instead, here, the trial court reasonably gave great weight to felony probation given all of the facts associated with that aggravator, and the trial court reasonably gave little weight to no-significant-prior-criminal-history given all the facts associated with that mitigator.

In any event, given the aggravated facts associated with the felony probation and especially given the prior violent felony of McMillian resisting apprehension by engaging in a shootout with the police, any error was harmless. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Davis, 2 So.3d at 964-65.

The trial court merits affirmance, if the merits are reached.

# <u>ISSUE III (PROPORTIONALITY)</u>: WHETHER THIS CASE'S DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE TO OTHER CASES' DEATH SENTENCES. (IB 67-74, RESTATED)

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